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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Darrius Galam is the petitioner. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Galam requests review of the decision in State v. 

Darrius Montrell Galam, Court of Appeals No. 84713-9-1 

(consolidated with No. 86011-9-1) (slip op. filed December 

16, 2024). 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did defense counsel provide ineffective 

assistance in failing to timely investigate and call an 

expert witness at trial to explain how post-traumatic stress 

disorder affected Galam, where such testimony would 

have been helpful to the jury in deciding whether the 

State disproved Galom's self-defense claim? 

2. The prosecutor elicited evidence and argued to the 

jury that Galam never called the police and that he would 

have done so if he believed he had acted lawfully. Did the 
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prosecutor impermissibly use Galom's prearrest silence 

as substantive evidence of guilt? 

3. Did the court err in admitting evidence that 

Galam traveled to Indiana after the shooting to show 

consciousness of guilt, where Galam had an innocent 

reason for going there? 

4. Were the search warrants for Galom's 

Snapchat records and cell phone invalid, and did the 

court err in failing to suppress evidence derived from 

them, because the supporting affidavits did not establish 

probable cause to believe evidence of the crime would be 

found in the places to be searched, the warrants were 

overbroad, and they constitute unlawful general warrants? 

5. Did a combination of errors create an unfair 

trial under the cumulative error doctrine? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

When Darrius Galam was 16 years old, "Trusty" and 

his associates from the Playboy Surenos gang robbed 

- 2 -



him at gunpoint, threatened his life, and shot up his house. 

2RP 726-42. Later, Trusty and his associates chased 

Galom as he walked home from school, asking his 

girlfriend "you ready to see your boyfriend die today?" 

2RP 743. Galom heard that Trusty had killed somebody 

before. 2RP 763. Galom was the target of gun violence 

on other occasions, including getting shot a week before 

the incident at issue in this case. 2RP 7 49-55, 758-61. 

Turning to that incident, Trusty and his gang 

associates, including Jared Miramontes, were at a park in 

Burien on April 20, 2020. 2RP 643-47. Galom, his friend, 

Jennifer Soto, and Soto's friend, all 18 years old, were at 

the park as well. 2RP 290, 345, 722-26, 764, 767-68. An 

altercation ensued. 2RP 27 4-92. 

A video without sound shows Galom and his 

companions walking across the park toward the 

playground when they encounter the group. Ex. 27; 2RP 

402-06, 409-12. One member of the group walks towards 
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Galom and they bump fists. Ex. 27. Others in the group 

stand up and quickly move toward Galom. Galom retreats 

backwards. One of them, later identified as Miramontes, 

walks toward Galom as he continues to back up. Galom 

draws a gun and fires, striking Miramontes, who falls to 

the ground. The others disperse. Galom moves around a 

playground apparatus and raises his arm with a gun in his 

hand in the general direction of the departing group. 

Galom then turns and raises his arm, though the 

playground apparatus blocks a view of Galom's hand, in 

the general direction of Miramontes. Ex. 27. A different 

video registers the sound of three gunshots. Ex. 16; 2RP 

110. The synchronized video registers the sound of a 

second gunshot when Galom raises his arm toward the 

group leaving the scene and a third gunshot when Galom 

raises his arm in the general direction of Miramontes. Ex. 

35. 
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The State charged Galom with first degree assault 

committed against Miramontes ( count 1 ), second degree 

assault against an unidentified other ( count 2), and 

second degree assault against Miramontes (count 3). CP 

100-01. 

Galom testified that he feared for his life, given what 

Trusty had done to him in the past. 2RP 779. Trusty 

looked angry and his associates were confrontational and 

threatening as they converged on him. 2RP 779-784. 

Trusty said "I'm gonna pop this n-." RP 783. The others 

had their guns partially out of their pockets. 2RP 789-90. 

Galom thought they were about to shoot him. 2RP 784. 

Miramontes came at him with a knife or metal object in his 

hand. 2RP 785-87, 828. Galom shot Miramontes because 

he feared for his life. 2RP 786, 788, 810-11, 836. When 

Trusty and the others took off, Galom fired another shot to 

scare them off. 2RP 789-92, 829-30. Galom denied firing 

a third shot at Miramontes. 2RP 792. 
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Galom decided to leave the area for his own safety; 

he thought the guys he had shot at would be looking for 

him, wanting to hurt him. 2RP 809-10. Police located him 

in Indiana. 2RP 384-88, 457-63. 

The jury received self-defense instructions covering 

counts 1-3. CP 123-24. The jury acquitted Galom of first 

degree assault under count 1 and found him guilty of 

second degree assault on counts 2 and 3. CP 106-08. 

Defense counsel arranged for Dr. Carson, a clinical 

and forensic psychologist, to provide an expert report and 

to testify at the sentencing hearing. 2RP 952-53, 965-

1029; CP 172-202, 358. According to Dr. Carson, Galom 

was diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder 

(PTSD) at age 14, with subsequent traumas aggravating 

this disorder. CP 172-73; 2RP 979-82. Galom had PTSD 

at the time of the offense. 2RP 979, 985. PTSD 

engenders a "heightened responsiveness." 2RP 979. 

Galom's PTSD informed his reaction to the threat he 
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perceived at the time of offense. CP 172, 177-79, 202; 

2RP 985. 

Dr. Carson described the violent and threatening 

interactions that Galom had prior to April 20, 2020, which 

formed a template or lens through which Galom viewed 

people and events. 2RP 974-76; CP 179. "He began to 

see that assault and serious injury and victimization is a 

real and present danger for him as it continued to occur 

and that the threats would continue after the initial 

confrontation." 2RP 977. 

The effect of PTSD is a "fight or flight response," 

which is not simply learned behavior but "actually shapes 

you biologically and your body responds differently when 

you have PTSD." 2RP 977. The nature of the "fight or 

flight" response in the sympathetic nervous system, 

exacerbated by PTSD, is such that biological activation 

continues even after the immediate threat is neutralized. 

CP 172. A person with PTSD has more difficulty 
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dampening this fear activation once initiated, with more 

sustained defensive reactivity. CP 179; 2RP 984. 

Galom's experiences of being targeted with gun 

violence supported his testimony that he continued to fear 

for his life after the proximate confrontation. CP 177-79. 

Considering the short amount of time between the shots 

fired, the science says his PTSD would still be activated; 

"there's no quick shutting down of it." 2RP 986. 

The court found the mitigating circumstance of 

failed self-defense and imposed an exceptional sentence 

downward. CP 231, 390, 419; 2RP 1079, 1084. 

Galom raised multiple claims on direct appeal, 

including an ineffective assistance of counsel claim based 

on counsel's failure to call an expert witness at trial in 

support of the self-defense claim. Galom also filed a 

personal restraint petition, supporting his ineffective 

assistance argument with affidavits from his trial attorneys. 
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The Court of Appeals consolidated the appeal and the 

petition and affirmed the convictions. Slip op. at 1. 

E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. Counsel was ineffective in failing to timely 
investigate and call an expert witness to 
testify at trial about Galom's PTSD in 
support of the self-defense claim. 

Galom's counsel was ineffective in failing to 

investigate the need for an expert witness before trial 

regarding Galom's PTSD and how it affected his 

perception of fear at the time of offense. Having failed to 

conduct an adequate pre-trial investigation, counsel was 

further ineffective in failing to retain and call an expert 

witness to testify at trial on these matters. Such testimony 

would have supported the self-defense claim and there is 

a reasonable probability that it may have led to acquittal 

on the two assault counts for which Galam was found 

guilty. Galom's case presents a significant issue of 

constitutional law warranting review under RAP 13.4(b )(3). 
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Evidence of self-defense "must be assessed from 

the standpoint of the reasonably prudent person, knowing 

all the defendant knows and seeing all the defendant 

sees." State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 238, 850 P.2d 495 

(1993). Expert testimony on PTSD is relevant to a claim 

of self-defense and is helpful to the trier of fact in 

assessing the claim. State v. Allery, 101 Wn.2d 591, 592-

93, 596-97, 682 P.2d 312 (1984) (addressing battered 

woman syndrome, a form of PTSD); Janes, 121 Wn.2d at 

222, 233 (addressing battered child syndrome, another 

form of PTSD). 

To fairly assess Galom's claim of self-defense, the 

jury thus needed to stand in Galom's shoes and consider 

all the relevant circumstances from his point of view. 

Expert testimony regarding Galom's PTSD diagnosis 

would have provided valuable support for the self-defense 

claim; particularly regarding why he felt heightened fear 

and why he fired the second shot at the departing group 
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and the third shot at the prone Miramontes. Such 

testimony would have given needed context for the jury to 

evaluate whether Galam truly believed that he faced an 

imminent threat and that his actions were reasonable to 

protect himself. 

The Sixth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution guarantees the right to the effective 

assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 

668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). 

"[D]epending on the nature of the charge and the issues 

presented, effective assistance of counsel may require 

the assistance of expert witnesses to test and evaluate 

the evidence against a defendant." State v. A.N.J., 168 

Wn.2d 91, 112, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). "To provide 

constitutionally adequate assistance, 'counsel must, at a 

minimum, conduct a reasonable investigation enabling 

[counsel] to make informed decisions about how best to 

represent [the] client."' In re Pers. Restraint of Fleming, 
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142 Wn.2d 853, 866, 16 P.3d 610 (2001) (quoting 

Sanders v. Ratelle, 21 F.3d 1446, 1456 (9th Cir. 1994)). 

"Counsel's decisions made after a less than complete 

investigation are reasonable only if the decision to limit 

the investigation was itself a product of reasonable 

professional judgment." State v. K.A.B., 14 Wn. App. 2d 

677, 712-13, 475 P.3d 216 (2020). 

Before trial, Galom's attorneys were aware that 

Galom may suffer from PTSD. Ridgeway Declaration, ,I 6, 

8; Gaffney Declaration, 1J 4. 1 Yet no effort was made to 

investigate whether an expert witness was available that 

could evaluate Galom's PTSD in relation to a self-defense 

claim. Ridgeway Declaration, 1J 8; Gaffney Declaration, 1J 

7. 

The Court of Appeals opined "[d]efense counsel 

made a strategic choice not to use Dr. Covell's report at 

1 The declarations are attached to the supplemental brief 
filed in support of the personal restraint petition. 

- 1 2  -



trial because they did not deem it would be helpful. " Slip 

op. at 7. This misses the mark. Dr. Covell was only 

retained 1n preparation for plea negotiation and 

sentencing mitigation purposes and was not asked to 

offer an opinion on Galom's PTSD in relation to a self­

defense claim. Ridgeway Declaration, ,i 2, 6. 

In her affidavit, Ms. Ridgeway admits: "We did not 

realize until the sentencing stage the extent to which 

qualified expert testimony on Mr. Galom's PTSD would 

have been relevant and helpful to the claim of self­

defense at trial. Not specifically procuring and calling an 

expert witness at trial to testify about Mr. Galom's PTSD 

was the result of not fully investigating whether an expert 

witness would have been useful in supporting the self­

defense claim at trial." Ridgeway Declaration, ,i 17. 

Ms. Gaffney likewise acknowledges defense 

counsel did not fully investigate before trial whether 

expert testimony on Mr. Galom's PTSD would have 
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supported the self-defense claim, and that this was an 

oversight. Gaffney Declaration, ,I 7. "Despite knowing Mr. 

Galom's mental state was a key part to the self-defense 

claim, defense counsel did not seek the advice of an 

expert to assist in providing testimony at trial about how 

Mr. Galom's PTSD would have contributed to his actions 

at the time of the offense and would have led to an 

extended period of perception of being in danger." kl 

Under these circumstances, counsel performed 

deficiently in not arranging for expert testimony on the 

effect of PTSD at trial. Courts will not defer to a trial 

lawyer's decision against calling a witness if that lawyer 

made an uninformed choice on the matter. State v. Jones, 

183 Wn.2d 327, 340, 352 P.3d 776 (2015). An 

uninformed decision is not a reasonable one. 

The Court of Appeals' contrary conclusion amounts 

to revisionist history, making up reasons for counsel's 

decision. "Generally, we credit the statements of defense 
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counsel as to whether their decisions at trial were - or 

were not - based on strategic judgments." Doe v. Ayers, 

782 F.3d 425, 445 (9th Cir. 2015); see State v. Estes, 188 

Wn.2d 450,461,395 P.3d 1045, 1051 (2017) ("We have 

found deficient performance when counsel later admitted 

that she was unaware of a key matter in the case."). Post 

hoc rationalizations that contradict an attorney's own 

sworn statement cannot be used to defeat an ineffective 

assistance claim. Doe, 782 F.3d at 445. 

The Court of Appeals suggests trial counsel did not 

have reason to know that Galom may suffer from PTSD 

until he "let his guard down" shortly before the trial started 

and therefore cannot be faulted for not seeking a 

continuance to get an expert. Slip op. at 7. In fact, both 

attorneys knew about Galom's past traumatic experiences 

and their relation to PTSD before Galom "let his guard 

down," yet did not pursue an expert on the matter at any 
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time before trial. Ridgeway Declaration, ,IS, 6 ; Gaffney 

Declaration, ,I4, 7. 

Prejudice results from a reasonable probability that 

the result would have been different but for counsel's 

performance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. In the absence 

of expert testimony on how PTSD affected Gal om, it is 

understandable that the jury found the State proved 

Galam did not act in self-defense on counts 2 and 3. 

When the second shot was fired, the group was running 

away. Ex. 27, 35. When the third shot was fired, 

Miramontes was on the ground, already injured. Ex. 27, 

35. Without a PTSD expert, the State's argument that 

Galam was not acting in self-defense in firing the second 

and third shot could not be effectively rebutted. 2RP 875-

82. The convictions should therefore be reversed. 

At minimum, this case should be remanded for a 

RAP 16.12 reference hearing on the matter of counsel's 

deficiency. A reference hearing is appropriate where the 
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petitioner makes the required prima facie showing of 

actual prejudice but the merits of the contentions cannot 

be determined solely on the record. In re Pers. Restraint 

of Yates, 177 Wn.2d 1, 18, 296 P.3d 872 (2013). 

2. The prosecutor impermissibly commented 
on Galom's exercise of his constitutionally 
protected right to prearrest silence. 

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee a 

criminal defendant the right to be free from self­

incrimination, including the right to silence. U.S. Const. 

amend. V; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9. The right against self­

incrimination prohibits the State from using prearrest 

silence as substantive evidence of a defendant's guilt. 

State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 237, 922 P.2d 1285 

(1996). 

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Galom 

if he thought the police would want to talk to him and if his 

flight to Indiana made it harder for police to find him. 2RP 

813-814. The prosecutor later asked why he didn't call 
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911 and talk to the police. 2RP 837. Galam testified he 

didn't trust the police, Soto already told the police that he 

acted in self-defense, and he was told that the police 

were not looking for him. 2RP 837. In closing argument, 

the prosecutor emphasized "Mr. Galam didn't call 911," 

he fled to Indiana, and "He never talked to the police. He 

knew that he may have killed someone. He knew that he 

had shot someone. If he truly believed that he was acting 

lawfully, he would have hung around. He would have 

talked about what happened." 2RP 887-88. 

The prosecutor impermissibly commented on 

Galom's right to prearrest silence in eliciting evidence and 

arguing to the jury that Galam never called the police. In 

State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 725, 230 P.3d 576 (2010), 

the prosecutor improperly commented on the defendant's 

right to silence in arguing the defendant fled to Texas and 

never called the police to try to clear up what happened 

with his niece. Those suspected of a crime have no 
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obligation to speak to the police on their own accord and 

prosecutors cannot use the failure to speak to police 

against them at trial. There is no requirement that the 

defendant must specifically invoke the right to remain 

silent to enjoy it prior to arrest. Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 238. 

The Court of Appeals held Galam could not raise 

this issue for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3) 

because the State merely used Galom's prearrest silence 

for an impeachment purpose, citing Jenkins v. Anderson, 

447 U.S. 231, 239, n.5, 100 S. Ct. 2124, 65 L. Ed. 2d 86 

(1980). Slip op. at 21. 

The Fifth Amendment is not violated by the use of 

prearrest silence to impeach a criminal defendant's 

credibility. Jenkins, 447 U.S. at 238. Whether prearrest 

silence is probative of the defendant's credibility, and thus 

available for an impeachment purpose, is a question of 

state evidentiary law. lit. at 239, n.5. Michigan evidentiary 

law permitted impeachment in Jenkins. That does not 
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mean Washington law permits impeachment in this 

circumstance and, if it does not, then the State had no 

basis to exploit prearrest silence. 

This Court has expressed skepticism "of the 

probative value of impeachment based on silence" due to 

the ambiguous significance of silence. State v. Burke, 163 

Wn.2d 204, 218, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). "Impeachment is 

evidence, usually prior inconsistent statements, offered 

solely to show the witness is not truthful. Such evidence 

may not be used to argue that the witness is guilty or 

even that the facts contained in the prior statement are 

substantively true." kl at 219. 

Galom's pre-arrest silence does not show he failed 

to testify accurately and truthfully. In testifying, Galam 

never claimed that he went to the police; he never denied 

that he did not call the police. Impeachment is unavailable 

if the defendant's testimony is consistent with evidence of 
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prearrest silence. State v. Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 706, 

n.2, 927 P.2d 235 (1996). 

As for impeaching the defense theory generally, 

"[o]nly if the prior silence were somehow inconsistent with 

the later offered defense would the prior silence have any 

relevance for impeachment purposes." kl Galom's 

silence is in no way inconsistent with his testimony or his 

defense, given the ambiguity of silence. It is impossible to 

conclude - and therefore improper for the prosecution to 

present evidence and argue - that the refusal to speak is 

more consistent with guilt than innocence. Burke, 163 

Wn.2d at 219; Easter, 130 Wn.2d at 237-41. 

Moreover, regardless of the theoretical purpose this 

evidence could have been used, the State in fact used 

Galom's prearrest silence as substantive evidence of guilt, 

not impeachment, in arguing its case to the jury. 2RP 

887-88. The jury was not instructed that it could consider 

Galom's silence for impeachment purposes only. 
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In the Court of Appeals, Galam argued Salinas v. 

Texas, 570 U.S. 178, 133 S. Ct. 2174, 186 L. Ed. 2d 376 

(2013) did not control and even if there was no Fifth 

Amendment violation, article I, section 9 provides greater 

protection against using prearrest silence as evidence of 

guilt. See Brief of Appellant at 73-77; Reply Brief at 36-39. 

The Court of Appeals did not address these arguments. 

Salinas, a fractured decision, has no binding holding. 

Salinas is also distinguishable. Unlike the suspect in 

Salinas, Galam never had the opportunity to expressly 

invoke his right to silence, as he had not yet been 

contacted and questioned by police. The right to silence 

exists prior to being contacted by police. 

Even if Salinas were deemed to conclusively 

resolve the question under the Fifth Amendment, article I, 

section 9 should be deemed to provide greater protection 
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in this area of the law. Galam provided a Gunwall 2 

analysis in the Court of Appeals. Brief of Appellant at 78-

83. The Court of Appeals declined to engage in a Gunwall 

analysis, deeming the state and federal privileges against 

self-incrimination co-extensive based on cases decided in 

other contexts. Slip op. at 24, n. 7. No precedent has 

analyzed whether article I, section 9 provides separate and 

greater protection regarding comments on the exercise of 

prearrest silence. "[W]hen the court rejects an expansion 

of rights under a particular state constitutional provision in 

one context, it does not necessarily foreclose such an 

interpretation in another context." State v. Russell, 125 

Wn.2d 24, 58, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). Galam seeks review 

under RAP 13.4(b )(3). 

2 State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 58, 720 P.2d 808 
(1986). 
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3. The court wrongly admitted evidence of 
Galom's travel to Indiana to show 
consciousness of guilt, as the evidence 
did not meet the evidentiary standard for 
admission. 

"Evidence of flight Is admissible if it creates 'a 

reasonable and substantive inference that defendant's 

departure from the scene was an instinctive or impulsive 

reaction to a consciousness of guilt or was a deliberate 

effort to evade arrest and prosecution."' State v. 

Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 497, 20 P.3d 984 (2001) 

( citation omitted). The inference of consciousness of guilt 

must be substantial and real, not speculative. kl at 498. 

Over defense objection, the trial court admitted 

evidence that Galom traveled to Indiana after the shooting 

to show consciousness of guilt. CP 281-82, 410-13; 1RP 

565-70, 573-75. The Court of Appeals acknowledged the 

evidence supports an inference that Galom went to 

Indiana because he was afraid of retaliation from those he 

had shot at, but held the flight evidence was properly 
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admitted because it "also supports the inference that 

Galam traveled to Indiana to evade arrest, as he knew 

law enforcement was investigating the crime." Slip op. at 

26. This reasoning ignores the rationale for why flight 

evidence has probative value. 

"The rationale which justifies the admission of 

evidence of 'flight' is that, when unexplained, it is a 

circumstance which indicates a reaction to a 

consciousness of guilt." State v. Slater, 197 Wn.2d 660, 

672, 486 P.3d 873 (2021) (citation omitted). Galom's flight 

to Indiana is not unexplained. He went to Indiana because 

he was afraid of retaliation from those he had shot at. It is 

consistent with innocent activity to leave town due to fear 

of violent reprisal. 

On these facts, there is no confidence in the 

substantial inference of "flight to consciousness of guilt" 

and, from that, "consciousness of guilt to consciousness 

of guilt concerning the crime charged" because Galom's 
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flight from the area is explainable as the actions of an 

innocent. Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. at 498. The necessary 

inference from Galom's conduct to consciousness of guilt 

is too tenuous to support admission of the evidence. 

Galam seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

4. The PRTT order for Galom's Snapchat 
records and the warrant for Galom's cell 
phone are unlawful and the motion to 
suppress should have been granted. 

The Fourth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution and Article I, section 7 of the Washington 

Constitution impose two closely intertwined requirements : 

the warrant must be supported by probable cause and it 

must not be overbroad. State v. Higgs, 177 Wn. App. 414, 

425-26, 311 P.3d 1266 (2013). Defense counsel moved 

to suppress evidence under CrR 3.6, contending the pen 

register/trap and trace (PRTT) order and the warrant for 

Galom's cell phone were invalid. CP 56-68; 1 RP 453-65, 
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478-82. The trial court denied Galom's motion to suppress 

evidence. CP 139-42; 1 RP 886-94. 

Both the PRTT order and the cell phone warrant 

lack probable cause to believe evidence of the alleged 

crimes would be found in the location to be searched and 

are overbroad. 

"Probable cause exists if the affidavit in support of 

the warrant sets forth facts and circumstances sufficient 

to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is 

probably involved in criminal activity and that evidence of 

the crime can be found at the place to be searched." 

State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). 

"[A] warrant will be found overbroad if some portions are 

supported by probable cause and other portions are not." 

Higgs, 177 Wn. App. at 426. 

The PRTT application sets forth no information to 

support a reasonable inference that evidence of Galom's 

alleged crimes would be found in his Snapchat records. 
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CP 301-15. The application merely recites that Galam 

used social media apps to communicate, specifically 

Snapchat, and that he used Snapchat to communicate 

with his mother since the shooting. CP 308-09. There are 

no specific facts to support a reasonable inference that 

evidence of Galam communicating with his mother or 

others about the alleged crime would be found on his 

Snapchat account. "Blanket inferences and generalities 

cannot be a substitute for the required showing of 

reasonably 'specific underlying circumstances' that 

establish evidence of illegal activity will likely be found in 

the place to be searched in any particular case." State v. 

Dunn, 186 Wn. App. 889, 897, 348 P.3d 791 (2015) 

(quoting Thein, 138 Wn.2d at 147-48). 

The PRTT application requests data all "stored 

completed communications." CP 304. This converted the 

order into an unlawful general warrant that permitted law 

enforcement to conduct an exploratory search into 
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Galom's private affairs. State v. McKee, 3 Wn. App. 2d 11, 

14, 29, 413 P.3d 1049 (2018), rev'd on other grounds, 

193 Wn.2d 271, 438 P.3d 528 (2019). 

The Court of Appeals held the PRTT order was 

severable. Slip op. at 16-17. The severability doctrine, 

however, "must not be applied where to do so would 

render meaningless the standards of particularity which 

ensure the avoidance of general searches and the 

controlled exercise of discretion by the executing officer." 

State v. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d 538, 558, 834 P.2d 611 

(1992). 

The cell phone warrant is also infirm. According to 

Detective Wheeler's affidavit, law enforcement learned 

Galom's younger sister was reported as a runaway to the 

McKinney Texas Police on April 20, 2020. CP 340. 

Detective Shoemake spoke with her father and 

stepmother. CP 340. "Family told Shoemake that they 

knew Darrius had recently been communicating with [his 
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sister] via cell phone. They relayed that Darrius had told 

[his sister] that he had 'shot someone in the face,' and 

described other criminal activities. 1 1  CP 340. 

To establish probable cause for issuance of a 

search warrant based upon an informant's tip, the affidavit 

must demonstrate (1) the basis of knowledge for the 

informant's information and (2) the veracity of the 

informant under the Aguilar-Spinelli test. State v. Vickers, 

148 Wn.2d 91, 112, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). 

The Court of Appeals opined 1 1Galom cites no 

authority applying the Aguilar/Spinelli test outside the 

setting of a confidential informant. 1 1  Slip op. at 18. That's 

false. As cited in the reply brief, "'[c]itizen' informants must 

still provide information to establish a basis for their 

knowledge about the criminal activity. 1 1  State v. Huft, 106 

Wn.2d 206, 211, 720 P.2d 838 (1986); State v. Ollivier, 

178 Wn.2d 813, 850, 312 P.3d 1 (2013) (applying basis of 

knowledge prong to named citizen informant). 
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The Court of Appeals applied a totality of 

circumstances test for showing informant reliability. Slip 

op. at 18-19. The cases relied on by the Court of Appeals 

for this test are inapplicable because they involve Terry 

stops based on an informant's tip, where the Aguilar­

Spinelli test does not apply. See State v. Z.U.E., 183 

Wn.2d 610, 619-21, 352 P.3d 796 (2015) (declining to 

adopt a rule whereby the "veracity" and "factual basis" 

prongs are treated as necessary elements in Terry stop 

cases). 

The Aguilar-Spinelli test is the correct test, and the 

basis of knowledge prong of that test is unsatisfied here. 

The basis for the knowledge Galam told his sister that he 

had "shot someone in the face" via cell phone is nowhere 

established and nothing in Detective Wheeler's affidavit 

corroborates the informant's tip that Galam told his sister 

via cell phone that he shot someone. Without this link, 

there are no specific facts that support a reasonable belief 
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that evidence of the shooting would be found on the cell 

phone. 

Which in turn converts the warrant into an 

impermissible general warrant. The warrant authorized a 

search of the entire content of the phone. CP 350. There 

was no probable cause to search any of it. 

Evidence from the cell phone, consisting of an April 

21 text message exchange between Galam and Soto on 

April 21, was admitted at trial. 2RP 475-81; Ex. 31. Soto 

told Galam that police were at her house, and Galam told 

her to not say anything, hide her phone, and delete the 

messages. 2RP 481. This evidence should have been 

suppressed. State v. Mayfield, 192 Wn.2d 871, 888-89, 

434 P.3d 58 (2019) (evidence obtained directly or 

indirectly from an unlawful search or seizure must be 

suppressed under the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine). 

Galam seeks review under RAP 13.4(b )(1) and (3). 
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5. Cumulative error violated Galom's due 
process right to a fair trial. 

Under the cumulative error doctrine, a defendant is 

entitled to a new trial when it is reasonably probable that 

errors, even though individually not reversible error, 

cumulatively produce an unfair trial by affecting the 

outcome. State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 788-89, 684 P.2d 

668 (1984); Parle v. Runnels, 505 F.3d 922, 927 (9th Cir. 

2007); U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. 

An accumulation of errors affected the outcome and 

produced an unfair trial in Galom's case, including (1) 

include (1) ineffective assistance of counsel (section D.1, 

supra); (2) comment on pre-arrest silence (section D.3, 

supra); (3) improper admission of flight evidence (section 

D.3., supra); (4) suppression error (section D.4, supra). 

Galam seeks review of this issue under RAP 13.4(b )(3). 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, Galam respectfully requests 

that this Court grant review. 

I certify that this document was prepared using word 
processing software and contains 4995 words 
excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18. 17. 
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(conso l idated with 
No .  860 1 1 -9- 1 )  

D IVIS ION ONE  

U N PU BL ISHED O P I N ION 

B IRK, J .  - Darri us Galom appeals h is conviction ,  argu i ng ( 1 )  defense 

counsel was i neffective i n  fa i l i ng to ca l l  an expert witness to testify about h is 

posttraumatic stress d isorder (PTSD) ,  (2) the tria l  cou rt erred i n  denyi ng h is motion 

to suppress evidence from the pen reg ister ,  trap and trace (PRTT) order and ce l l  

phone warrant ,  (3) t he  State imperm iss ib ly commented on h is rig ht to prearrest 

s i lence ,  (4) the tr ial cou rt erred in adm itt ing evidence of fl ig ht to show 

consciousness of gu i lt ,  (5) cumu lative error, and (6) the tria l  cou rt erred i n  impos ing 

the vict im penalty assessment (VPA) fee . We affi rm Ga lom's conviction , and 

remand to a l low the tria l  cou rt to stri ke the VPA as a m i n ister ia l  matter. 
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The State fi led an i nformation charg i ng Galam with fi rst deg ree assau lt ,  two 

counts of second deg ree assau lt ,  and second deg ree un lawfu l possess ion of a 

fi rearm 1 stemming from an a ltercat ion with Jared Naranjo M i ramontes on Apri l  20 ,  

2020 . 

Naranjo testified that on Apri l 20 ,  2020 , he was d ropped off at h is friend 

Trust's2 house,  and the two , a long with Trust's cous i n ,  made the i r  way to a park in 

Bu rien . Naranjo testified that about five m i nutes after the g roup arrived at the park ,  

Trust said he saw someone com i ng that he knew. Naranjo saw a male, later 

identified as Galam , with two g i rls walk ing towards the g roup .  Naranjo  said Trust 

approached Galam "and I th i nk  they were ta lk ing . . .  [a]nd it looked l i ke they were 

argu ing . . . .  So ,  then I got up  and started walking towards my friend . And I just 

remember gett ing shot. " 

Officers obta ined two record ings of the incident ,  one from a surve i l l ance 

camera at a mun ic ipal  water d istrict pumphouse that overlooked the park, with 

video but no aud io ,  and another from a homeowner's su rve i l lance camera which 

conta ined aud io but d id not show the park.  The State's theory at tria l  was that 

Galam fi rst shot Naranjo ,  fi red a second shot at the flee ing g roup ,  and fi red the 

th i rd shot towards Naranjo wh i le he was on the g round . 

1 Second deg ree un lawfu l possess ion of a fi rearm was severed from the 
assau lt charges . In a b ifu rcated phase of tria l ,  the j u ry convicted Galam of the 
charge .  However, the count was later d ism issed because the j u ry was g iven 
insufficient evidence to support every element of the charge .  

2 Naranjo's friend is later identified as Jerry Garcia , a lso known as "Trust" 
or "Trusty . "  

2 
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Galam testified that on the day of the incident, he met up with Jennifer Soto 

and Sara Rueda Garcia to go to Southern Heights Park. Galam was in possession 

of a gun that day because he had "been in instances where [he] got shot at," and 

a week prior had "just got shot." Galam testified that after about an hour and a half 

at the park, he, Soto, and Rueda Garcia decided to leave. While walking to the 

park entrance, Galam recognized a mutual friend amongst a group of people and 

walked up to shake his friend's hand. Galam testified another individual in the 

group stood up from the bench and turned around to greet h im,  and Galam 

recognized him as Trusty, an individual who had previously shot at Galam.  Galam 

testified Trusty began "egging [him]" and started clutching a gun in his waistband. 

Galam testified he started to back up, "trying to plead my case, tel l him to chil l out," 

and calm the situation. 

The other individuals in the group started coming towards Galam "right after 

[Trusty] stood up and right after I started backing away." Galam testified that 

"somebody else got up off the bench. And . . .  he's coming directly at me with, uh ,  

what I think is a knife in h is hand. But, he's literally coming at me."  Galam testified 

that Naranjo "ended up walking in front of Trusty," and Galam shot him. The 

pumphouse video showed one of the men in the group approach Galam,  and 

showed Galam draw a gun and fire at the man. 

Galam testified that after his first shot, the group turned and ran away, and 

Galam ran and yelled "to, like , scare these guys; you know what I mean? But then 

I, l ike ,  shoot at the ground. I shot literally at the ground. And then I raised my arm, 

but I'm still yelling at these guys to literally scare these guys." Galam disputed 

3 
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firing the third shot. He testified that he turned around and "right when I turn 

around, then that's when they shot." After hearing the third shot, Galam ran away 

from the park and eventually ended up staying at a hotel. 

The next day, Soto messaged Galam that officers came and spoke with her. 

Galam testified that he told Soto to delete some message because he "didn't trust 

the cops at this time." Galam testified that after Soto spoke with the police, he 

thought everything was okay because Soto said the police "already knew 

everything," and they "weren't even looking for [him] at the time," so he "was just 

under the impression that everything's okay." Galam testified he decided to leave 

the area due to safety concerns and flew to Indiana "to lay low and kick it for a 

while, just to let everything calm down." Galam was eventually arrested in I ndiana. 

After receiving self-defense instructions for al l  three counts, the jury 

acquitted Galam of first degree assault and convicted him of two counts of second 

degree assault. At Galom's sentencing hearing, Galam presented Dr. Christen 

Carson ,  a clinical and forensic psychologist, to testify about his PTSD and other 

factors in support of an exceptional downward sentence based on fa iled self­

defense. The trial court waived al l  non mandatory legal financial obligations and 

imposed the victim penalty assessment (VPA) fee .  Galam appealed. 

After Galom's appel late counsel filed an opening brief in Galom's appeal ,  

arguing, among other things, that trial counsel was ineffective for not calling an 

expert witness to testify about Galom's PTSD on the issue of self-defense ,  Galam 

filed a personal restra int petition raising the same cla im.  Galam provided 

declarations from his trial attorneys in which they testified they retained an expert 

4 
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to testify about Galom's PTSD at sentencing , but d id not ca l l  such an expert at tria l . 

Defense counsel stated she sought an expert eva l uation by a l icensed forens ic 

psycholog ist, Dr .  Ch ristmas Cove l l ,  "primari ly for m it igation , "  however, after 

learn ing that the psycholog ist "d id not have sig n ificant experience i n  j uven i le bra in  

development research or science" and " [h]er conclus ions d id n't appear to 

sufficiently account for [Galom's] b io log ical age and re lative matu rity , "  defense 

counsel concl uded Dr .  Cove l l ' s  report "wou ld not be he lpfu l , "  and d id not seek to 

reta i n  another expert to eva luate Galam or ass ist with tria l  preparation .  Our  

comm iss ioner g ranted Galom's motion to conso l idate h is personal  restra i nt petit ion 

with h is d i rect appea l .  

I I  

Galam argues defense counsel was i neffective i n  fa i l i ng to ca l l  its expert 

witness to testify about Galom's PTSD because th is wou ld have aided the j u ry i n  

assess ing whether Galam acted i n  se lf-defense . We d isag ree . 

Crim ina l  defendants are guaranteed the rig ht to effective ass istance of 

counsel pu rsuant to the S ixth Amendment of the U n ited States Constitution and 

art icle I ,  sect ion 22 of the Wash i ngton Constitution .  To show i neffective ass istance 

of counsel the defendant must demonstrate that: ( 1 )  counsel 's representat ion was 

defic ient ,  mean ing it fe l l  below an objective standard of reasonableness based on 

cons ideration of a l l  the c i rcumstances ; and (2)  the defendant was prej ud iced , 

mean ing there is a reasonable probab i l ity that the resu lt of the proceed ing wou ld 

have been d ifferent but for the chal lenged conduct .  Strickland v. Wash i ngton , 466 

U . S .  668 ,  687 , 1 04 S. Ct. 2052 , 80 L. Ed . 2d 674 ( 1 984) ; State v .  McFarland , 1 27 
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Wn .2d 322 , 334-35 ,  899 P .2d 1 25 1  ( 1 995) . If either prong has not been met, we 

need not add ress the other .  State v. Garcia , 57 Wn . App .  927 , 932 , 79 1 P .2d 244 

( 1 990) . 

"To provide constitutiona l ly adequate assistance ,  'counsel must , at a 

m i n imum ,  conduct a reasonable i nvestigat ion enab l ing [counsel] to make i nformed 

decis ions about how best to represent [the] c l ient . ' " In re Pers .  Restra int of Brett , 

1 42 Wn .2d 868 ,  873 , 1 6  P . 3d 601  (200 1 )  (emphasis om itted) (quoti ng Sanders v .  

Rate l le ,  21  F . 3d 1 446,  1 456 (9th C i r . 1 994)) . I f  defense counse l 's conduct can be 

characterized as leg itimate tria l  strategy, it cannot serve as a basis for a c la im of 

i neffective ass istance of counse l .  State v .  Mak,  1 05 Wn .2d 692 , 73 1 , 7 1 8 P .2d 

407 ( 1 986) , overru led on other grounds by State v. H i l l ,  1 23 Wn .2d 64 1 ,  870 P .2d 

3 1 3 ( 1 994) . S im i larly , an attorney's " 'strateg ic choices made after thorough 

i nvest igation of  law and facts re levant to p laus ib le options'  " wi l l  genera l ly not be 

cons idered defic ient .  State v .  Fedoruk,  1 84 Wn . App .  866 , 880 ,  339 P . 3d 233 

(20 1 4) (quoti ng Strickland , 466 U . S .  at  690-9 1 ) ) .  

A petitioner may seek re l ief th rough a PRP when they bel ieve they are 

under un lawfu l restra int .  RAP 1 6 .4(a)-(c) . To obta in  co l lateral re l ief th rough a 

PRP ,  the petitioner must demonstrate both error and prej ud ice .  I n  re Pers .  

Restra int of Sandova l ,  1 89 Wn .2d 8 1 1 ,  82 1 ,  408  P . 3d 675  (20 1 8) .  If t he  error was 

of constitutional  magn itude,  the petit ioner must show actual and substant ia l  

p rejud ice .  & I f the petitioner shows i neffective ass istance of counse l ,  they have 

necessari ly met the burden of provi ng actual  and substant ia l  p rej ud ice .  I n  re Pers .  

Restra int of Crace , 1 74 Wn .2d 835 , 846-47 ,  280 P . 3d 1 1 02 (20 1 2) .  

6 
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Galam does not show that defense counse l 's decis ions about experts 

constitute deficient performance .  Galam rece ived an expert eva luat ion by a 

l icensed forens ic psycholog ist, Dr .  Cove l l ,  before tria l . H is counsel d iscussed the 

psycholog ist's potent ia l  fi nd ings with her and learned that "a report deta i l i ng  her 

fi nd i ngs and op in ions wou ld not be he lpfu l . "  Defense counsel made a strateg ic 

choice not to use Dr .  Cove l l ' s  report at tria l  because they d id not deem it wou ld be 

he lpfu l .  Defense counsel was able to argue self-defense and e l icit test imony from 

Galam about h is past traumatic experience to exp la in  h is perceptions du ring the 

shooting . 

Defense counsel attested that as tria l  approached , Galam d iscussed h is 

ch i ld hood and past experiences of trauma with her and "he let down h is guard i n  

a way that he had not done  before . "  D r .  Cove l l  p reviously ment ioned that Galam 

"was guarded and not very forthcoming when she i nterviewed h im . "  Galam " let 

down h is guard"  i n  February 2022 , with vo i r  d i re beg i nn i ng on February 1 7 , 2022 , 

and the fi rst day of testimony being February 23 ,  2022 . It is un l i ke ly that the tria l  

cou rt wou ld have g ranted a conti nuance to obta in  a new expert witness . "A fa i r  

assessment of attorney performance requ i res that every effort be  made to 

e l im inate the d istort ing effects of h i nds ight ,  to reconstruct the c i rcumstances of 

counse l 's chal lenged conduct ,  and to eva luate the conduct from counsel 's 

perspective at the t ime . "  Strickland , 466 U . S .  at 689. Where Galom's PTSD was 

recogn ized , defense counsel consu lted an expert about it, and the expert was 

unhelpfu l ,  defense counsel 's decis ion at the t ime of tria l  to try the case without 

expert testimony on PTSD was not defic ient performance .  Galom's i neffective 

7 
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ass istance of counsel c la im fa i ls  for th is reason and we need not add ress Galom's 

arguments about whether the lack of a PTSD expert at tria l  caused prejud ice . 

1 1 1  

Galam argues the tria l  cou rt erred i n  denyi ng h is motion to suppress 

evidence from the PRTT order and the ce l l  phone warrant .  

At the CrR 3 .6  heari ng ,  Galam moved to suppress the resu lts of the PRTT 

order and ce l l  phone search warrant .  Galam argued the State was not " requesti ng 

i nformat ion specifica l ly l i n ked to location , "  but instead requesti ng "a l l  stored 

comp leted commun ications for th is t ime period , even though there's no ind icat ion 

provided that SnapchatI3l was used at or  around the t ime of the offense . "  The State 

argued the request to se ize "stored commun ications" i n  the PRTT order were 

"absol ute ly re lated and important i n  th is i nvest igation .  They were try ing to fi nd 

[Galom's] location .  They d idn 't know where he was . And they knew that h is 

pr imary way of commun icati ng was on Snapchat . "  The State argued the ce l l  phone 

warrant had probable cause for law enforcement to search for "the motive for the 

crime" and the warrant was l im ited "even more specifical ly by commun ications for 

specific peop le . "  The tria l  cou rt ru led the PRTT order and ce l l  phone warrant were 

sufficiently particu lar .  

A 

The warrant clause of the Fourth Amendment and art icle 1 ,  sect ion 7 of the 

Wash ington Constitut ion requ i re that a search warrant be issued upon a 

3 Snapchat is a ce l l  phone app s im i lar  to text messag ing except photos and 
texts sent th rough Snapchat d isappear once they are seen by the recip ient and 
are not preserved . 

8 
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determ inat ion of probable cause based upon "facts and c i rcumstances sufficient 

to estab l ish a reasonable i nference" that crim ina l  activity is occu rri ng or that 

contraband exists at a certa i n  location .  State v. Thei n ,  1 38 Wn .2d 1 33 ,  1 40 ,  977 

P .2d 582 ( 1 999) . There must be "a nexus between crim ina l  activity and the item 

to be seized and between that item and the p lace to be searched . "  State v .  Neth , 

1 65 Wn .2d 1 77 ,  1 83 ,  1 96 P . 3d 658 (2008) . "Search warrants may not be based 

on ly on general izations . "  State v .  Denham , 1 97 Wn .2d 759 ,  767 , 489 P . 3d 1 1 38 

(202 1 ) . We requ i re that probable cause be "based on more than conclusory 

pred ictions .  B lanket i nferences of th is k ind substitute genera l it ies for the requ i red 

showing of reasonably specific ' underlyi ng ci rcumstances' that estab l ish evidence 

of i l legal activity wi l l  l i kely be found i n  the p lace to be searched i n  any particu lar 

case . "  The i n ,  1 38 Wn .2d at 1 47-48 .  A tria l  j udge's decis ion to authorize a search 

warrant is normal ly reviewed for abuse of d iscretion .  Neth , 1 65 Wn .2d at 1 82 .  

"Although we defer to the mag istrate's determ ination , the tria l  cou rt's assessment 

of probable cause is a lega l  conc lus ion we review de nova . "  kl 

A warrant is overbroad if it fa i ls  to describe with particu larity items for which 

probable cause exists to search . State v .  Maddox ,  1 1 6 Wn . App .  796,  805, 67 

P . 3d 1 1 35 (2003) , aff'd , 1 52 Wn .2d 499 , 98 P .2d 1 1 99 (2004) . A search warrant's 

description of the p lace to be searched and property to be seized is sufficiently 

particu lar  if " it is as specific as the ci rcumstances and the natu re of the activity 

under i nvest igation perm its . "  State v. Perrone, 1 1 9 Wn .2d 538 , 547 ,  834 P .2d 6 1 1 

( 1 992) . Wh i le the deg ree of particu larity req u i red depends on the natu re of the 

mater ia ls sought and the facts of each case , we eva luate search warrants " i n  a 
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common sense , p ractical manner, rather than i n  a hypertechn ical sense . "  kl at 

549 .  We review de nova whether a search warrant conta ins a sufficiently 

particu larized description of the items to be searched and se ized . kl 

Wash ington courts have recogn ized that the search of compute rs or other 

electron ic  storage devices g ives r ise to heightened particu larity concerns .  State v .  

Keodara ,  1 9 1 Wn . App .  305 , 3 1 4 , 364 P . 3d 777 (20 1 5) .  A properly issued warrant 

"d isti ngu ishes those items the State has probable cause to se ize from those it does 

not , "  part icu larly for a search of computers or d ig ita l storage devices . State v .  

Askham , 1 20 Wn . App .  872 , 879 , 86 P . 3d 1 224 (2004) ; Keodara ,  1 9 1 Wn . App .  at 

3 1 4 . 

I n  Askham , we held that the warrant was sufficiently particu lar because 

wh i le it pu rported to se ize a broad range of equ ipment ,  d rives , d isks ,  centra l  

p rocess ing un its , and memory storage devices , it a lso specified which fi les and 

app l ications were to be searched . 1 20 Wn . App .  at 879-80 . It l isted fi les re lated 

to the owner's use of specific webs ites and fi les re lati ng to man ipu lations of d ig ita l 

images and authorized the seizu re of software re lated to man ipu lation of images, 

the defendant's handwriti ng , and fi ngerpr ints ,  and postage stamps.  kl The 

warrant's description left no doubt as to which items were to be se ized and was 

"not a l icense to rummage for any evidence of any crime . "  kl at 880 .  

McKee i nvo lved a warrant authoriz ing a " ' phys ical  dump '  " of the phone's 

memory. See State v .  McKee , 3 Wn . App .  2d 1 1 ,  29, 4 1 3 P . 3d 1 049 (20 1 8) ,  
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overru led on other grounds ,  1 93 Wn .2d 27 1 , 438 P . 3d 528 (20 1 9) . 4 During an 

i nvest igation of sexual exp lo itat ion of a m i nor and dea l i ng  i n  depict ions of a m i nor 

engaged i n  sexua l ly exp l icit conduct ,  po l ice obta i ned a warrant authorizi ng a 

search for a l l  images , videos , documents , ca lendars ,  cal l  logs ,  and other data . kl 

at 1 6 , 29 .  "The warrant [gave] the po l ice the rig ht to search the contents of the ce l l  

phone and  se ize private i nformat ion with no temporal  or  other l im itations . "  kl at 

29 .  Th is a l lowed a search of general  categories of data without objective 

standards to gu ide the po l ice executing the warrant .  kl We held the warrant 

lacked the req u is ite particu larity because it "was not carefu l ly ta i lored to the 

justificat ion to search and was not l im ited to data for which there was probable 

cause . "  kl "The search warrant clearly a l low[ed] search and seizu re data without 

regard to whether the data [was] connected to the crime . "5 kl 

I n  State v. H igg ins ,  1 36 Wn . App .  87 , 94 , 1 47 P . 3d 649 (2006) , we held a 

search warrant was overbroad because it " i n  no way l im ited the search to i l l ic it 

items , "  and it "conta i ned no l ist of examp les to gu ide the search . "  I ts general  

reference to domestic v io lence was not particu lar because the statute conta i ned 

4 In McKee , this cou rt held a search warrant was overbroad , suppressed 
the evidence the State gathered based on it ,  and remanded for d ism issal of the 
charges . See McKee , 3 Wn . App .  2d at 29-30 . The Supreme Cou rt accepted 
review, but d id not review the warrant ,  and held on ly that th is cou rt had appl ied the 
wrong remedy by ordering d ism issa l ,  and instead shou ld have remanded for 
fu rther proceed ings with an order to suppress . McKee , 1 93 Wn .2d at 279 . Thus ,  
the Cou rt of Appeals op in ion remains precedent ia l  on the ana lys is of the warrant .  

5 In McKee , we found the un l im ited search parameters were a constitutiona l  
v io lat ion even where a witness had i nformed po l ice of specific images she had 
seen on the phone dep ict ing the m inor ,  and the op in ion d id not suggest that any 
other evidence was used to support charges besides the specific images to wh ich 
the witness had d i rected pol ice .  3 Wn . App .  2d at 1 6 , 1 9 , 29 .  
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six d ifferent ways to commit the crime.  kl at 93 .  A warrant to search for evidence 

of any such vio lat ion wou ld a l low for seizu re of items for wh ich the State had no 

probable cause . kl 

We look to th ree factors set out i n  H igg i ns to determ ine if a warrant suffers 

from overbreadth : ( 1 ) whether probable cause exists to seize a l l  items of a 

particu lar  type described i n  the warrant ,  (2) whether the warrant sets out objective 

standards by which executi ng officers can d ifferentiate items subject to seizu re 

from those which are not ,  and (3) whether the government was able to describe 

the items more particu larly in l i ght of the i nformation ava i lab le to it at the t ime the 

warrant was issued . kl at 9 1 -92 . " 'Specificity has two aspects : particu larity and 

breadth . Particu larity is the requ i rement that the warrant must clearly state what 

is sought. Breadth deals with the requ i rement that the scope of the warrant be 

l im ited by the probable cause on which the warrant is based . ' " McKee , 3 Wn . App .  

2d a t  23 (quoti ng U n ited States v .  Towne ,  997  F . 2d 537 ,  544 (9th C i r . 1 993) ) .  A 

search warrant is overbroad if it either "fa i ls  to describe with particu larity items for 

which probable cause exists , "  or "describes , particu larly or otherwise , items for 

which probable cause does not exist . "  Maddox ,  1 1 6 Wn . App .  at 805 . 

B 

1 

Galam argues the PRTT order does not estab l ish a nexus between the 

p lace to be searched and evidence of i l legal activity .  

The affidavit describes the i nvestigat ion from the even ing of the shooti ng 

and law enforcement's i n it ia l  contact with eyewitnesses . On Apri l  20, 2020 ,  law 
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enforcement was dispatched to Southern Heights Park where there were reports 

of a shooting and d iscovered Naranjo lying on the ground suffering from a gunshot 

wound to the lower face . Witnesses stated they heard two or three shots and saw 

several people running away from the park. A witness, Gabriela I rigoyen Diaz 

contacted law enforcement and stated her daughter, Soto, was likely involved in 

the shooting. Unidentified friends of Naranjo spoke with law enforcement and 

stated they heard Soto was present during the shooting and that the shooter was 

Galam. The affidavit details a survei l lance video taken from a water tower near 

the park that depicted a male and two females walk toward a group of individuals 

and after a verbal exchanged, showed the male pull out a pistol and fire at the 

vict im. 

The affidavit details an interview with Soto and Rueda Garcia who both 

admitted being at the park with Galam.  Rueda Garcia admitted "she did see Galam 

draw and fire, and the victim get struck in the chin and fal l  to the ground." The 

affidavit stated law enforcement unsuccessfully asked Soto, Rueda Garcia, and 

Galom's mother for assistance in contacting Galam.  The affidavit noted Galam did 

not use a phone with service, but instead used Snapchat to communicate. 

Galo m's mother told the affiant Galam "primarily used a Snapchat account named 

"Darrius Galo mm" and has used that account to communicate in the last week but 

recently stopped communicating with fami ly members using that account. She 

said the new account he is using to communicate with her is the Snapchat account 

"D_money2400."  The affidavit requested to use a PRTT device to locate Galam 

and arrest him. 
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These circumstances supported a reasonable inference that Galam was 

probably involved in criminal activity, the shooting ,  and that evidence of the crime 

would be found within his Snapchat location data, including evidence locating him 

at the shooting and showing his then-current location. The PRTT order was 

supported by probable cause to search for Galom's location. 

Galam further argues the PRTT order lacked particularity because it 

"authorized police to seize the entire communication content of Galom's Snapchat 

account." The search warrant authorized law enforcement to search the business 

records of Snap Inc. and seize "evidence of the above crimes, specifica lly the 

evidence described in Finding of Fact number (9)(d) above for April 20, 2020 to 

the date of compliance with this warrant/order, and continuing for the 1 0 days this 

warrant is in effect." Finding of fact 9(d) described the following data authorized to 

be seized, 

i. Subscriber or Registration Account Information ,  including 
subscriber or registered user name or identity, address, 

bi l l ing/payment information ;  account initiation date; type of account; 

custom account features; additional phone numbers; addresses 

(both physical and electronic) and/or other contact information; 

additional persons having authority on the account; any additional 

accounts l inked to the subject account; account changes for the 

target address and any linked accounts; and 

i i .  Device Identifying Information for the device accessing the 
target address, such as phone number, MAC [media access control] 

address, I P  [internet protocol] address, and other unique hardware 

and software identifiers; and 

v. Stored Completed Communications including stored 

completed/read content associated with the above listed account, 

including but not limited to; all pictures and videos, all stored Snaps, 

Stories, Memories, and chat content and all metadata associated 

with that content 
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vi . Stored Locat ion I nformation , incl ud i ng stored and 
transact ional  records ,  such as commun ication deta i l  data , together 
with date and t ime of each commun ication ; inc lud ing position ing 
i nformat ion such as GPS [g lobal posit ion i ng system] 
long itude/latitude ,  or  other i nformat ion tend ing  to revea l  the 
proximate or precise locat ion of the device associated with the 
above- identified target add ress , deta i l  such as IP add ress , Port ,  
Socket Add ress , Vo I P  [vo ice over i nternet protocol ]  add ress , routi ng 
i nformation ;  the add ress(es) from which the commun ication is made ,  
conducted , and term inated ; non-content text or  emai l ,  header, I P  
add ress ; and other non-content i nformation . 

(Emphasis added ; boldface om itted . )  

A warrant can be  overbroad i f  i t  describes , particu larity o r  otherwise , items 

for which probable cause does not exist. Maddox ,  1 1 6 Wn . App .  at  805 .  The 

PRTT order authorized po l ice to search for numerous items that were supported 

by probable cause and described with particu larity ,  such as the subscriber 

i nformation ,  device identify ing i nformat ion and stored locat ion i nformation .  

However, t he  order cou ld be  read to  authorize law enforcement to  also seize the 

enti rety of Galom's "Stored Completed Commun ications , "  without l im itat ion .6 The 

affidavit fa i ls  to estab l ish a nexus between Galom's "p ictu res and videos , al l  stored 

Snaps ,  Stories , Memories , and chat content" and evidence of h is location or 

otherwise evidence of the crimes under i nvestigation . Thus ,  for the same reasons 

exp la i ned i n  McKee , to th is extent the PRTT order was overbroad . 

6 The order is ambiguous as to whether it requ i red account content to be 
bel ieved by law enforcement to constitute "evidence of the above crimes" in order 
to be seized , or  defi ned the account content as "evidence of the above crimes" 
subject to seizu re .  The State does not argue that the prefatory language "evidence 
of the above crimes" provided the necessary specificity under the Askham/McKee 
framework and , because we conclude the order is severab le ,  it is not necessary to 
determ ine whether the prefatory language was so effective . 
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"U nder the severab i l ity doctri ne ,  ' i nfi rm ity of part of a warrant requ i res the 

suppress ion of evidence seized pursuant to that part of the warrant but does not 

requ i re suppress ion of anyth ing seized pu rsuant to va l id  parts of the warrant . ' " 

Maddox, 1 1 6 Wn . App .  at 806 ( i nternal quotat ion marks omitted)  (quoti ng Perrone ,  

1 1 9 Wn .2d at  556) . The severab i l ity doctri ne app l ies on ly where :  ( 1 ) the warrant 

lawfu l ly authorized entry i nto the prem ises , (2) the warrant i ncl udes one or more 

particu larly described items for which there is probable cause, (3) the part of the 

warrant that i nc ludes part icu larly described items supported by probable cause is 

s ign ificant when compared to the warrant as a whole ,  (4) the search ing officers 

found and se ized the d isputed items wh i le executi ng the va l id  part of the warrant 

( i . e . , wh i le search ing for items supported by probable cause and described with 

particu larity) , and (5) the officers d id not cond uct a general  search . kl at 807-08 .  

The PRTT order meets a l l  five requ i rements . Of the fou r  categories of  data 

that were requested to be se ized , th ree were particu larly described and had 

probable cause . Law enforcement had probable cause to seize "Subscriber or  

Reg istrat ion Account I nformation , "  "Device Identifying I nformation , "  and "Stored 

Location I nformation , "  to fi nd evidence that the account was connected to Galam , 

and d iscover Galom's location . These categories were l im ited to a t ime frame of 

1 0  days . The warrant's g rant of authority to search for locat ion data was s ign ificant 

when compared to its who le .  Law enforcement found each item that they seized 

wh i le they were looki ng for Galom's locat ion data . And although law enforcement 

also seized "two videos that were taken from the Snapchat i nformation"  of the day 

the shooti ng occurred , th is evidence was not offered or used at tria l . We conclude 
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the severabil ity doctrine applies, and the PRTT order's overbreadth does not 

require suppression of the properly seized location information admitted at trial. 

2 

Galam argues the cell phone warrant did not establish a nexus between the 

place to be searched and evidence of i l legal activity. 

Galam does not question that the cell phone affidavit gave probable cause 

linking him to the shooting. It described the investigation from the evening of the 

shooting and law enforcement's initial contact with eyewitnesses. These 

witnesses included El izabeth and Valery Resindez, both of whom saw Jerry Garcia 

and heard him say Galam had shot at h im.  The affidavit d iscussed the surveil lance 

video captured from the water tower and the subsequent interviews with Soto and 

Rueda Garcia. Rueda Garcia "identified one of the members of the victim group 

as Jerry Garcia and showed detectives a Facebook page with the username of 

'Ese Trusty . ' " The affiant was "famil iar with Garcia from other investigations and 

[knew] that he associates with the Playboy Surenos criminal street gang ." Based 

on information learned from the previously issued P RTT order, and given the 

"number of messages and geolocation points," the affiant stated it was reasonable 

to believe that Galam was in possession of a cell phone from April 20, 2020 

onward. In an interview Galam described the incident and stated one of the 

individuals from the park "had a problem with him," and after seeing three guns, 

he "drew his own pistol and fired at one of the guys" in self-defense .  

Galam focuses his argument on  the affiant's basis for believing evidence 

would be found on his phone. The affiant learned that Galom's younger sister had 
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been reported as a runaway to Texas law enforcement and "consider ing the 

poss ib i l ity of [Galam] meet ing with his s ister wh i le flee ing law enforcement , "  they 

contacted Texas law enforcement. I n  the cou rse of the runaway i nvest igation ,  law 

enforcement spoke with the s ister's father and step-mother and learned that Galam 

"had recently been commun icat ing with [h is  s ister] via ce l l  phone. They re lated 

that [Galam] had to ld [h is  s ister] that he had 'shot someone in the face , '  and 

described other crim ina l  activit ies . "  Th is i nformation is sufficient to  ra ise a 

reasonable i nference that evidence of the crime wou ld be found i n  Galom's ce l l  

phone records .  

C it i ng State v .  Vickers ,  1 48 Wn .2d 9 1 , 1 1 2 ,  59 P . 3d 58 (2002) , Galam 

nevertheless argues that we shou ld not consider h is s ister's parents' statements 

to Texas law enforcement when determ in i ng whether probable cause exists 

because , Galam says , the i r  statements fa i l  to meet the Agu i lar/Spi nel l i  test. 

Agu i lar  v .  Texas , 278 U . S .  1 08 ,  84 S .  Ct. 1 509 ,  1 2  L .  Ed . 2d 723 ( 1 964) ; Spi nel l i  

v .  U n ited States , 393 U . S .  4 1 0 ,  89 S .  Ct. 584 , 2 1  L .  Ed . 2d 637 ( 1 969) . Galam 

cites no authority app ly ing the Agu i lar/Sp ine l l i  test outs ide the sett ing of a 

confident ia l  i nformant nor any basis to conclude that it app l ies at a l l  to statements 

l i ke those here by concerned parents re layi ng i nformation log ica l ly rece ived from 

the i r  ch i ld  and c i rcumstantia l ly match i ng deta i ls  of the crime under i nvest igation .  

Assuming without decid ing that Agu i lar/Spine l l i  app l ies i n  such a context a t  a l l ,  the 

apparent c i rcumstances of re l iab i l ity in the parents' report here eas i ly meets the 

re l iab i l ity standards of that test. In the confident ia l  i nformant context , when an 

officer bases the i r  suspic ion on an i nformant's tip ,  the State must show that the ti p 
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bears some " ind ic ia of re l iab i l ity" under the tota l ity of the c i rcumstances . State v .  

Z . U . E . ,  1 83 Wn .2d 6 1 0 ,  6 1 8 ,  352 P . 3d 796 (20 1 5) .  Th is test req u i res that there 

either be ( 1 )  ci rcumstances estab l ish i ng the i nformant 's re l iab i l ity or  (2) some 

corroborative observation ,  usua l ly by the officers , that shows either (a) the 

presence of crim ina l  activity or  (b) that the i nformer's i nformation was obta i ned in 

a re l iab le fash ion . State v .  S ie ler ,  95 Wn .2d 43, 47 , 62 1 P . 2d 1 272 ( 1 980) ; State 

v. Lesn ick, 84 Wn .2d 940 ,  943-44 , 530 P .2d 243 ( 1 975) . These corroborative 

observat ions do not need to be of part icu larly b latant crim ina l  activity ,  but they must 

corroborate more than j ust i n nocuous facts , such as an i nd ivid ua l 's  appearance or 

cloth ing . See State v .  Wakeley, 29 Wn . App .  238 ,  24 1 -43 ,  628 P .2d 835 ( 1 98 1 ) .  

Here ,  Galom's s ister's parents to ld law enforcement that the i r  daughter had been 

commun icati ng with Galam and du ring that commun ication ,  Galam to ld her he 

" 'shot someone in the face . '  " The fam i l ia l  cha i n  of commun icat ion along with the 

accu racy of the statement-Galam said he " 'shot someone i n  the face ' " which is 

exactly what happened on Apri l 20, 2020-are i nd ic ia of re l iab i l ity .  The ce l l  phone 

warrant d id not lack probable cause . 

Galam add it ional ly contends the ce l l  phone warrant v io lates the particu larity 

requ i rement because it d id not l im it the search to a specific part of Galom's phone ,  

but instead "authorized a search of the enti re content of the phone and then 

perm itted the pol ice to rummage th rough its content to locate certa i n  categories of 

i nformation . "  

The warrant satisfies the particu larity requ i rement. I t  d i rected officers to 

"search" the phone and "se ize" evidence of the crime and evidence of the identity 
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of the owner of the device .  The seizu re of the evidence was l im ited to 

commun icat ions with Soto , Rueda Garcia ,  and Galom's s ister about the crime ,  

i nternet searches re lati ng to med ia coverage of the i ncident , location i nformation 

between Apri l 1 0  and Apri l 20, and photog raphs or videos dep icti ng the possess ion 

of a fi rearm . Furthermore ,  the warrant authorized the search of i nformation 

regard i ng the te lephone number associated with the seized phone, i ts service 

provider and a l l  data used by a service provider  to identity the phone ,  and evidence 

of other accounts associated with the device that wou ld  a id i n  determ in i ng the user 

of the device .  The terms of the warrant were sufficiently descriptive to d i rect law 

enforcement's actions .  Law enforcement had probable cause to seize i nformation 

specified as l i kely evidencing the crimes under i nvest igation that wou ld 

demonstrate the phone be ing searched was Galom's ,  and that any evidence 

d iscovered on the phone was connected to Galam . 

Thus ,  i n  contrast to McKee , the warrant d id not authorize search of the 

electron ic  data repository without identifying the materia l  sought ,  but rather as i n  

Askham described the specific matter perm itted to be sought with i n  the larger data 

repos itory .  Accord Un ited States v. Purcel l ,  967 F . 3d 1 59 ,  1 8 1 (2d C i r . 2020) ("The 

September 201 7 Warrant identified the target Facebook account  to be searched 

and the specific k inds of data from that account to be se ized . It was therefore 

adequate ly particu larized and j ustifiab ly broad with respect to both the locat ion to 

be searched (the 'M ike H i l l '  Facebook account) and the items to be se ized from 

that locat ion (the twenty-fou r  enumerated categories of data) . ") ;  U n ited States v .  

U lb richt , 858 F . 3d 7 1 , 1 00-0 1 (2d C i r . 20 1 7) (warrant issued to search a laptop for 
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specifica l ly identified items re levant to the charged crim ina l  enterprise) , overru led 

on other grounds by Carpenter v .  U n ited States , 585 U . S .  296 ,  1 38 S .  Ct. 2206 , 

20 1  L .  Ed . 2d 507 (20 1 8) .  

The tria l  cou rt d id not err i n  denyi ng Galom's mot ion to suppress the ce l l  

phone warrant .  

IV 

Galam argues for the fi rst t ime on appeal that the State imperm iss ib ly 

commented on h is  exercise of the rig ht to prearrest s i lence .  We hold that Galam 

cannot ra ise th is issue for the fi rst t ime on appeal because he cannot estab l ish a 

man ifest error affect ing a constitut iona l  rig ht under RAP 2 . 5(a) (3) . 

On cross-examination ,  the State questioned why Galam trave led to I nd iana 

after the shooti ng if it "made it harder  for law enforcement to fi nd"  h im .  Galam 

testified he d id not be l ieve law enforcement was looking for h im .  The State 

questioned , "You j ust shot someone at a park? And-and you thought that law 

enforcement wou ldn ' t  at least want to ta l k  to you about it? " The State later asked 

Galam why he d id not cons ider ca l l i ng 9 1 1 after the incident to "clear th is up . "  

Galam d id not object i n  the tria l  cou rt that the State improperly commented 

on h is prearrest s i lence .  RAP 2 . 5(a) (3) states that a party may ra ise for t he  fi rst 

t ime on appeal a "man ifest error affect ing a constitutiona l  rig ht . " Th is ru le is 

i ntended to a l low a reviewing court to correct any "serious i njust ice to the accused" 

and to preserve the fa i rness and integ rity of j ud ic ia l  p roceed ings .  State v .  

McFarland , 1 27 Wn .2d 322 , 333 , 899 P .2d 1 25 1  ( 1 995) . To determ ine the 

app l icab i l ity of RAP 2 . 5(a)(3) , we ask whether ( 1 ) the error is tru ly of a 
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constitutiona l  magn itude ,  and (2) the error is man ifest, mean ing the appe l lant can 

show actual  p rej ud ice .  State v. J .W. M . ,  1 Wn .3d 58 ,  90-9 1 , 524 P . 3d 596 (2023) . 

The Wash i ngton state and federa l  constitutions provide crim ina l  defendants 

with the rig ht agai nst self- i ncrim ination . State v. Easter, 1 30 Wn .2d 228 ,  235 ,  922 

P .2d 1 285 ( 1 996) . M i randa v.  Arizona held pu rsuant to the self- i ncrim i nation 

c lause of the F ifth Amendment that " if a person i n  custody is to be subjected to 

i nterrogation , "  they must fi rst be i nformed that they have the rig ht to " remain s i lent . " 

384 U . S .  436,  467-68 ,  86 S .  Ct. 1 602 , 1 6  L .  Ed . 2d 694 ( 1 966) . M i randa warn ings 

"constitute an ' imp l icit assurance' to the defendant that s i lence i n  the face of the 

State's accusations carries no penalty . "  Easter, 1 30 Wn .2d at 236. The State 

vio lates a defendant's d ue process rig hts under the Fourteenth Amendment if it 

uses for impeachment pu rposes a defendant's s i lence at the t ime of arrest or after 

rece ivi ng M i randa warn ings .  Doyle v. Oh io ,  426 U . S .  6 1 0 ,  6 1 9 ,  96 S .  Ct. 2240 ,  49 

L .  Ed . 2d 91 ( 1 976) . The proh ib it ion aga inst using post-M i randa s i lence " rests on 

' the fundamenta l unfa i rness of imp l icit ly assuring a suspect that h is  s i lence wi l l  not 

be used aga i nst h im and then us ing h is s i lence to impeach an exp lanat ion 

subsequently offered at tria l . ' " Wai nwright v .  Greenfie ld , 474 U . S .  284 ,  29 1 , 1 06 

S .  Ct. 634 ,  88 L .  Ed . 2d 623 ( 1 986) (quoti ng South Dakota v. Nevi l l e ,  459 U . S .  553 ,  

565 , 1 03 S .  Ct .  9 1 6 ,  74 L .  Ed . 2d 748 ( 1 983)) . 

However, "the F ifth Amendment is not v io lated by the use of prearrest 

s i lence to impeach a crim ina l  defendant's cred ib i l ity . "  Jenk ins v. Anderson ,  447 

U . S .  23 1 , 238 , 1 00 S .  Ct. 2 1 24 ,  65 L. Ed . 2d 86 ( 1 980) . I n  Jenk ins ,  the defendant 

was charged with murder and later convicted of manslaughter .  & at 232 , 234 . He 
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d id not report the i ncident to the po l ice unt i l  about two weeks after the ki l l i ng . � 

at 234 .  At tria l , Jenk ins adm itted stabb ing the vict im but c la imed self-defense .  � 

at 233 .  Du ring cross-examination , the prosecutor e l icited from Jenk ins that he had 

not reported the stabb ing to the pol ice for two weeks , suggesti ng that he wou ld 

have spoken out if he had k i l led i n  se lf-defense , and aga in  referred to Jenki ns's 

prearrest s i lence du ring clos ing argument .  � at 233-34 . Jenkins argued the 

prosecutor's actions vio lated the F ifth Amendment. � at 235 .  The Court , quot ing 

Harris v .  New York, 40 1 U . S .  222 , 225 , 91 S. Ct. 643 ,  28 L. Ed . 2d 1 ( 1 97 1 ) ,  stated , 

Every crim ina l  defendant is privi leged to testify i n  h is own defense , 
or  to refuse to do so.  But that privi lege cannot be construed to 
inc lude the rig ht to comm it perj u ry . . . .  Having vo l u ntar i ly taken the 
stand , petitioner was under an ob l igation  to speak truthfu l ly and 
accu rate ly, and the prosecution here d id no more than uti l ize the 
trad it iona l  truth-test ing devices of the adversary process . 

Jenk ins ,  447 U . S .  at  237-38 (a lterat ion i n  orig ina l )  (q uotat ion marks om itted) .  For  

" [o] nce a defendant decides to testify, ' [t] he i nterests of the other party and regard 

for the function of courts of just ice to ascerta i n  the truth become re levant, and 

preva i l  i n  the balance of cons iderations determ in i ng the scope and l im its of the 

privi lege agai nst self- incrim inat ion . ' " � at 238 (alterat ion in orig ina l )  (quoti ng 

Brown v.  U n ited States,  356 U . S .  1 48 ,  1 56 ,  78 S .  Ct. 622 , 2 L .  Ed . 2d 589 ( 1 958) ) .  

The Cou rt noted that the decis ion d id not force any state cou rt to  a l low 

impeachment with prearrest s i lence ,  and j u risd ict ions remained free to formu late 

evident iary ru les defi n ing the situation .  � at 240 .  But ,  such a ru le wou ld not be 

based on the federal  constitution .  � at 238 .  
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Galom's case is in conform ity with Jenk ins ,  and thus does not ra ise a 

constitutiona l  issue .  As i n  Jenk ins ,  Galam was i nvo lved i n  a ki l l i ng and then for 

severa l days made no report to the authorities , on ly to c la im wh i le testify ing at tria l  

that the ki l l i ng was i n  se lf-defense and so lawfu l .  U nder Jenki ns ,  Galam was 

properly subject to cross-examination on h is fa i l u re to make that c la im at the t ime 

of the ki l l i ng , and the F ifth Amendment d id not sh ie ld h im from th is cross­

examination . Because us ing prearrest s i lence for impeachment pu rposes does 

not v io late the F ifth Amendment but , u nder Jenk ins ,  imp l icates evidence law at 

best, Galam fa i ls  to show that any error is one of tru ly constitutiona l  d imension ,  as 

requ i red by RAP 2 . 5 (a)(3) . 7 

V 

Galam argues the tria l  cou rt wrong ly adm itted evidence of h is  trave l to 

I nd iana after the shooti ng to show consciousness of gu i lt .  We d isag ree . 

Du ring d iscuss ion of motions i n  l im ine ,  the State moved for leave to 

" i ntrod uce the fact that [Galam] fled the state [ and] went to I nd iana" to "make 

7 Galam fu rther argues we shou ld engage i n  a State v. Gunwa l l  ana lys is to 
determ ine whether the Wash i ngton Constitution provides g reater protect ion than 
the F ifth Amendment. 1 06 Wn .2d 54 , 720 P .2d 808 ( 1 986) . In State v .  Earls , 1 1 6 
Wn .2d 364 , 374-75 ,  805 P .2d 2 1 1 ( 1 99 1 ) ,  use of the Gunwal l  ana lys is was found 
to be unnecessary because "the protect ion of  art icle 1 ,  sect ion 9 is coextens ive 
with , not broader than ,  the protect ion of the F ifth Amendment . " Though Earls 
add ressed the F ifth Amendment rig ht to counsel rather than F ifth Amendment 
privi lege aga inst self- i ncrim i nation ,  Earls re l ied upon State v .  Moore ,  79 Wn .2d 5 1 , 
483 P .2d 630 ( 1 97 1 ) and State v. Franco ,  96 Wn .2d 8 1 6 ,  639 P .2d 1 320 ( 1 982) , 
abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sand holm , 1 84 Wn .2d 726 , 364 P . 3d 87 
(20 1 5) ,  two decis ions which specifica l ly add ressed the coextens ive scope of the 
state and federal  p rivi leges agai nst self- i ncrim i nation .  See Earls, 1 1 6 Wn .2d at 
375-77 . Because Earls , Moore ,  and F ranco hold that the state constitut ion does 
not afford an analys is d ifferent from that of the federa l  constitution , and are b i nd i ng 
on th is cou rt ,  we decl ine to engage i n  the Gunwal l  ana lys is that Galam proposes . 
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argument about the fact that he d id leave the State after th is shooting happened . "  

Galam argued the State d id not have evidence l i nking fl ight to consciousness of 

gu i lt ,  and " [t]here [was] no ind icat ion from the State , no specific evidence that they 

can point to that suggests that [Galam] left because he was try ing to avo id 

apprehension rather than for fear of h is own safety. "  I nstead , Galam argued , 

"There is every reasonable i nference that [Galom's] leaving of Wash i ngton and 

leavi ng the scene was out of fear for h is own safety. "  The tria l  cou rt adm itted the 

evidence and concl uded , " [ l ]t cou ld be evidence of consciousness of gu i lt and a lso 

fear of reta l iation .  And those th ings aren 't mutua l ly excl usive . "  

We review a tria l  cou rt's decis ion to adm it or  excl ude evidence for abuse of 

d iscretion .  State v. Jenn i ngs , 1 99 Wn .2d 53 ,  58 ,  502 P . 3d 1 255 (2022) . A tria l  

cou rt abuses its d iscret ion when the exercise of d iscret ion is un reasonable or 

based on untenable g rounds .  State v .  Barker, 1 03 Wn . App .  893 ,  902 ,  14 P . 3d 

863 (2000) . "A tria l  cou rt must not automatica l ly a l low [fl ight evidence] but must 

fi rst decide whether or  not the proposed evidence amounts to a reasonable 

i nference of fl ight that is more than mere specu lat ion and supports a 

consciousness of gu i lt i nference . "  State v. S later , 1 97 Wn .2d 660 , 674 , 486 P . 3d 

873 (202 1 ) . The probative va lue of fl ight evidence as ci rcumstantial evidence of 

gu i lt depends upon the deg ree of confidence with which fou r  i nferences can be 

d rawn : ( 1 ) from the defendant's behavior  to fl ig ht; (2) from fl ig ht to consciousness 

of gu i lt ;  (3) from consciousness of gu i lt to consciousness of gu i lt concern ing the 

crime charged ; and (4) from consciousness of gu i lt concern ing the crime charged 
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to actua l  gu i lt of the crime charged . State v .  Freeburg ,  1 05 Wn . App .  492 , 498 ,  20 

P . 3d 984 (200 1 ) .  

Here ,  Snapchat GPS coord i nates showed Galam i n  I nd iana th ree days after 

the shooti ng . Contrary to the State's suggestion ,  the bare fact of travel to I nd iana 

does not suggest Galom's gu i lt for any of the assau lts charged . The i nference of 

gu i lt was log ical when that fact was comb ined with other evidence later brought 

out at tria l-namely that Galam res ided loca l ly and went to I nd iana on ly abruptly, 

without advance p lans to do so, and shortly after the shooti ng . Galam argues the 

evidence merely shows that he went to I nd iana because he was afra id of reta l iat ion 

from those he had shot at .  However, the evidence also supports the i nference that 

Galam trave led to I nd iana to evade arrest, as he knew law enforcement was 

i nvest igati ng the crime .  The tria l  cou rt d id not abuse its d iscretion i n  adm itt ing 

Galom's fl ig ht to I nd iana as consciousness of gu i lt .  

VI 

Galam argues that cumu lative error v io lated h is rig ht to a fa i r  tria l . We 

d isag ree . Cumu lative error may warrant reversa l ,  even if each error stand ing a lone 

wou ld otherwise be cons idered harm less . State v .  Weber, 1 59 Wn .2d 252 ,  279 ,  

1 49 P . 3d 646 (2006) . However, the doctri ne does not app ly where the errors are 

few and have l itt le or  no effect on the outcome of the tria l . kl Here ,  because any 

errors are few and had no effect on the outcome of the tria l ,  we reject Galom's 

cumu lative error argument .  
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VI I 

Galam argues the trial court erroneously imposed the VPA. The State does 

not object that remand is appropriate to strike the imposition of the fee. We accept 

the State's concession and remand to strike the imposition of the VPA. 

We affi rm Galom's conviction and remand to al low the trial court to strike 

the VPA as a min isterial matter. 

WE CONCUR: 
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